SIX CONCRETE MEASURES TO SUPPORT WOMEN AND GIRLS IN ALL THEIR DIVERSITY IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC



[Y]OU'VE BEEN ABLE TO MOBILIZE AGAINST A KILLER EPIDEMIC, HIV, AND YOU HAVE SAVED LIVES ... THIS IS ONE OTHER EPIDEMIC. YOU ARE TESTED, YOU ARE GROUNDED, YOU KNOW HOW TO FIGHT AND HOW TO USE COLLECTIVE POWER OF COMMUNITIES TO PREVENT, TO TEST, AND TO TREAT IN THE MOST RESPECTFUL, HUMAN RIGHTS-FOCUSED APPROACH. SO GET OUT THERE AND FIGHT, USE YOUR VOICE TO DEMAND AND TAKE ACTION FOR YOUR COMMUNITIES.

WINNIE BYANYIMA,
UNAIDS EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

CONTENTS

Addressing the impact of COVID-19 on women and girls in all their diversity: a human rights imperative	2
Six key measures	4
Address the different needs of women and girls, paying attention to the most marginalized	4
Recognize and guarantee access to essential health services	7
Address the neglected epidemic of gender-based violence against women and girls	9
Stop misuse of criminal and punitive laws	11
Prioritize adolescent girls' and young women's education, health and well-being	13
Value women's work and make unpaid care work everybody's work	15
Visioning the future: longer-term change needed	19
References	20
Resources	27

ADDRESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON WOMEN AND GIRLS IN ALL THEIR DIVERSITY: A HUMAN RIGHTS IMPERATIVE

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic is having devastating social and economic consequences worldwide. Yet the numbers of infections and deaths alone do not provide an accurate picture of the pandemic's vast gendered impact. While the available data suggest that men experience higher rates of COVID-19-related deaths (1), women and girls are bearing a disproportionate burden of the larger impacts of the pandemic and states' emergency responses (2).

This guide is designed to provide recommendations to governments to confront the gendered and discriminatory impact of COVID-19. It highlights good practices; shares lessons learned from HIV and other past public health crises; provides strategic information; calls for engagement with communities most impacted by COVID-19; and sets forth concrete immediate and forward-looking recommendations for crisis responses, policy development and investment strategies. The guide presents six key areas of concern regarding the human rights of women and girls in all their diversity during the COVID-19 pandemic—differing needs of women and girls, particularly those most marginalized; access to essential health services; the neglected epidemic of gender-based violence against women and girls; misuse of criminal and punitive laws; adolescent girls' and young women's education, health and well-being; and valuing women's work and making unpaid care work everybody's work.

The gender-specific analysis and recommendations contained here are informed by valuable insight gained from the global HIV response recognizing that many of the same structural drivers of inequality in the HIV epidemic are the same as those driving inequality in the current COVID-19 pandemic. Neither COVID-19 nor HIV can be overcome without prioritizing the most marginalized populations, and recognizing that people have diverse experiences and needs. Along these lines, we should avoid adopting uniform responses that fail to account for local contexts and guarantee the human rights of everyone affected by the crisis and its response (3).

WOMEN AND GIRLS IN ALL THEIR DIVERSITY

Women and girls are not a homogeneous group, and they face multiple forms of discrimination. While everybody is vulnerable to COVID-19, people are far from equally affected by pandemic responses. There are stark gendered disparities, and the most marginalized people are the hardest hit. Women and girls are at heightened risk of domestic violence, inadequate access of essential health care (both before and during the pandemic), COVID-19-related punishment, economic insecurity, and the imposition of unpaid and unrecognized care work. Combine this with the stigma and intersectional discrimination that marginalized women and girls (including transgender and gender-diverse people, lesbians, bisexual people, sex workers, women and girls with disabilities, women living with HIV, women who use drugs, refugees, migrants, women and girls in conflict zones, detention and humanitarian settings, indigenous women and women from other racial and ethnic minorities, and adolescent girls and young women) already face, and we can see that women and girls are undeniably being "left behind" (4, 5).

Just as HIV held up a mirror to stark inequalities and injustices, the COVID-19 pandemic will be exacerbated unless we address head-on the human rights impact on women and girls in all their diversity and their lack of access to health services, education, protection from violence, and social, economic and psychological support (6). These lessons align with the United Nations Secretary-General's call to focus on the most marginalized people (7) and to centre women and girls in COVID-19 recovery efforts (2).

UNAIDS calls on states, law- and policy-makers, key stakeholders, funders, development actors, communities and civil society to act urgently to mitigate the pandemic's impact on the most marginalized women and girls as we navigate a world overcome by COVID-19 into the post-pandemic future. All emergency measures, including their design, implementation, execution and monitoring, must include a gender perspective and take an intersectional approach that accounts for the contexts and conditions that enhance the effects of this crisis. Critical steps must also be taken to ensure advancements towards gender equality and the realization of women's and girls' human rights are not rolled back during this time.

HUMAN RIGHTS PROTECTIONS AND LIMITATIONS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Evidence confirms that human rights-based approaches to public health crises are most effective (8–10). The World Health Organization (WHO) has noted that as "countries identify ways to address COVID-19, integrating a human rights approach as well as rights protections and guarantees into our shared responses is not only a moral imperative, it is essential to successfully addressing public health concerns" (11).

States must comply with certain core human rights obligations during times of crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic. They must ensure people's basic needs and rights, including for access to food, clean water, sanitation and shelter, and must refrain from discriminating against people directly or indirectly. States are further obligated to assess and address the needs of the most marginalized people who are experiencing a disproportionate impact of the crisis—in this case, women and girls in all their diversity. Specifically, states must consider how women and girls are differently affected by pandemic responses and integrate specific measures to confront gender-related inequalities, as a core obligation and a human rights mandate, and ensure women's and girls' direct and meaningful participation in pandemic planning, particularly those most affected by COVID-19.

To the extent that states can limit some rights to protect public health under international law, any restrictions must be necessary, proportionate, non-discriminatory and limited in duration, and must include key safeguards against excesses (12–14).

SIX KEY MEASURES

With the aim of bringing light to the health and human rights issues that women and girls are facing during the COVID-19 pandemic and states' responses, and to catalyse action to change course and confront these disparities, UNAIDS calls for targeted action in the following six key areas.

ADDRESS THE DIFFERENT NEEDS OF WOMEN AND GIRLS, PAYING ATTENTION TO THE MOST MARGINALIZED

As the COVID-19 pandemic exposes entrenched inequalities and gendered power dynamics, marginalized women and girls are experiencing the greatest health and human rights impacts. Their disparate experience is related not only to the virus but also to existing discrimination and gender stereotyping; economic inequality; lack of equal access to food, clean water, housing and health services; and stigma and discrimination based on sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, race, age, caste, class, religion, HIV status, disability, indigenous identity and immigration status. States' emergency responses, which in some cases are overly broad, vague and not evidence-based, contribute to the unequal experiences of women and girls and fail to promote their health and human rights. At risk are the hard-fought gains towards gender equality and women's and girls' human rights.

EXAMPLES OF URGENT NEEDS THAT COVID-19 RESPONSES MUST ADDRESS

- Women as a whole are experiencing increasing levels of violence (15), unpaid domestic and caretaking work, economic insecurity, and diminishing access to essential health services.
- Women and girls with disabilities who lack accessible information (e.g. sign language, easy-to-read captions) about the virus and protection measures face worsening conditions and lack of protection in institutions and are virtually absent in response planning (16).
- Indigenous women may need access to information in their own languages on COVID-19 prevention and access to services (17).
- Adolescent girls and young women may be increasingly susceptible to violence, child and early marriage, and trafficking amidst school closures, coupled with lack of access to comprehensive sexuality education, contraception and abortion, as has been the experience during Ebola outbreaks and other public health crises (18–20). Young women are facing a disparate impact of job losses, particularly in informal markets (21, 22).
- Rural and poor women may lack access to clean water at home, creating an increased burden of collecting water in crowded public spaces, putting them at higher risk of exposure to the virus (23).
- Migrant women working as domestic or informal care workers, especially those who are undocumented, may lack job security and protection (24).
- Sex workers, lesbians, bisexual and transgender people, women living with HIV, and women who use drugs are experiencing worsened conditions, including being subjected to humiliating treatment if found violating public health orders (25, 26); lack of access to social safety nets, financial support schemes (27), antiretroviral medicines, and drug treatment and harm-reduction supplies; and discriminatory treatment and violence by landlords, families and local officials (28).

Women in prison are more susceptible to acquiring the virus because prisons keep people in confined spaces, with limited options for physical distancing (29). Prison populations already have a weaker health profile than the broader community, and many prisons do not provide adequate health care. Where prison health-care services are available, women, being a minority, often have poorer access, and their sex-specific needs remain largely neglected (30).

ADDRESSING THE SPECIFIC NEEDS OF WOMEN AND GIRLS LIVING WITH OR AFFECTED BY HIV

Many women living with HIV have other comorbidities and require regular access to health care, which can hinder their ability to comply with COVID-19 prevention precautions. Women living with HIV who have underlying cardiac or respiratory conditions and older women living with HIV may be at higher risk of acquiring the coronavirus and developing more serious symptoms (31). To date, few states have focused on the specific needs of people living with HIV in emergency response plans or prioritized ongoing HIV prevention. Condoms have not been regarded as essential commodities or included in contingency planning for COVID-19 in most countries (32), and harm-reduction centres have closed in many places (33). Continuity of services for women who are on or who need pre-exposure prophylaxis is essential during this time. Without adjusting programmes to meet current circumstances, women may be deterred or delayed from seeking antiretroviral therapy because hospitals are busy treating people with COVID-19, reduced clinic hours are inconvenient, or they fear acquiring the virus (34). Women may also be deterred from seeking treatment at HIV clinics due to fear that they will be compelled to reveal their HIV status to the police as a condition for leaving their home, in violation of their medical privacy. HIV treatment and supplies may be disrupted as resources are diverted or repurposed towards COVID-19. It is essential that antiretroviral therapy stocks and prevention supplies are prioritized (35).

GOOD PRACTICES

The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime has provided furniture and medical equipment for a newly created women's centre at the Windhoek Correctional Facility in Namibia to meet women's specific health-care needs while in detention, including for HIV and sexual and reproductive health (36).

The United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) is distributing much needed menstrual hygiene supplies and information on how to prevent the spread of COVID-19 to women in quarantine centres and prisons in El Salvador (37).

On the Venezuelan borders, where people are returning due to COVID-19, UNFPA and UNAIDS offer women in compulsory quarantine contraceptive methods (medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) injections, condoms) and voluntary HIV testing. Women also receive dignity kits including personal hygiene items and information papers on gender-based violence and HIV (38).

The Khawaja Sira Society is working with the most marginalized transgender people in Pakistan to promote their knowledge about HIV and COVID-19 prevention. Many transgender people are in precarious employment situations and have lost employment and income due to COVID-19 measures, live in cramped conditions (making physical distancing difficult), cannot access food aid that is contingent on presentation of national identity cards, or are illiterate, making public health campaigns and information inaccessible. The Khawaja Sira Society and UNAIDS Pakistan are disseminating information on hygiene, preventive measures and physical distancing on social media. The Khawaja Sira Society is also working with provincial governments to ensure people living with HIV can have multimonth refills of antiretroviral medicines delivered to their homes (39).

Women living with HIV who use drugs, transgender women and sex workers may be at higher risk of contracting the coronavirus due to lack of housing, poverty, or lack of continued access to prevention and harm-reduction measures. Continuity of care for people who use drugs is strained further due to staff shortages, clinic closures and quarantines, and clean drug use equipment may be reallocated to COVID-19 treatment efforts, thus reducing access to drug substitution therapy (40). Homeless women and girls may be unable to physically distance in public and may lack access to resources and the ability to manage their personal hygiene, including menstrual hygiene.

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Recognize women's resilience, innovation and roles as critical change agents necessary for effective COVID-19 responses.
- Ensure women's equal representation, meaningful participation and decision-making power in national COVID-19 response and recovery planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation, and in governance and decision-making processes regarding public health and emergency responses moving forward.
- Identify, with communities representing the wide and diverse experiences of women and girls, the needs of the most marginalized, and ensure they are prioritized in COVID-19 response plans and budgeting.
- Incorporate a gender perspective in all policy responses to COVID-19, as social norms and cultural patterns can lead to a differentiated impact for men and women. Take targeted action to avoid exacerbating existing inequalities. Specifically account for the circumstances of women and girls, including based on sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, HIV status, race, age, caste, class, religion, disability, indigenous identity and immigration status, in all COVID-19 responses.
- Ensure ongoing access to critical health information and commodities such as antiretroviral medicines, condoms and lubricants, modern contraception (including emergency contraception), pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis, other post-rape care, and harm-reduction services such as needles and syringes, opioid substitution therapy and overdose prevention. To maintain safety and accessibility for all women and girls, states should provide differentiated services, including multi-month dispensing, community service delivery and self-care interventions. Anticipate and address supply-chain disruptions, and ensure ongoing compliance with medical privacy regulations in all pandemic responses (41).
- Collect age-, gender- and disability-sensitive evidence to create more equitable solutions to the disproportionate impacts of COVID-19 and responses on women and girls in all their diversity, and promptly share good practices and lessons learned in this regard. Longer term, ensure disaggregation of data is mainstreamed into outbreak and emergency response planning and preventive measures.
- Guarantee all women and girls can access health and social services, accommodation, protection from violence, and justice without fear of arrest, deportation or discrimination by service providers.

RECOGNIZE AND GUARANTEE ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL HEALTH SERVICES

As with the general population, women and girls are facing decreased access to essential health services during the pandemic (11, 42, 43). The consequences of reduced access to critical sexual and reproductive health care are particularly severe for women and girls. WHO has identified reproductive health care, including care during pregnancy and childbirth, as a high-priority essential service that states should prioritize to maintain continuity of service (42). The Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) Committee has similarly issued guidance that calls on states to ensure "confidential access to sexual and reproductive health information and services such as modern forms of contraception, safe abortion and post-abortion services and full consent must be ensured to women and girls at all times, through toll-free hotlines and easy-to-access procedures such as online prescriptions, if necessary free of charge" (44).

UNFPA has reported that more than 47 million women could lose access to contraception during the pandemic, leading to 7 million additional unintended pregnancies (45). In many countries, sexual and reproductive health-care funding and supplies are not included in emergency health frameworks or financing schemes. Existing sexual and reproductive health supplies and providers are also being diverted to COVID-19 efforts. For example, some African governments have moved funds regularly earmarked for reproductive health care to combating COVID-19, and at least 447 mobile clinics in the region have been shut (46). Marginalized women who use drugs, engage in sex work or live in poverty are at particular risk of acquiring COVID-19, and yet they may lack access to health care due to fear of discrimination, harassment or potential criminalization.

CASE STUDIES

A woman in the Philippines died after giving birth at home because she was denied emergency services to remove the placenta. She was turned away from various hospitals due to lack of blood, available rooms, medical personnel and surgical equipment. Hospitals also asked for advance payment for services and personal protective equipment, despite her critical condition (47).

Amidst rising anti-Muslim sentiment in India, a pregnant Muslim woman in Rajasthan was turned away from a public hospital allegedly because of her religion, resulting in the loss of her pregnancy (48).

Disruptions in supply chains for antiretroviral medicines, condoms and contraceptives have severe implications for women and girls. Their ability to protect their health, avoid unwanted pregnancies, and prevent or manage HIV and other sexually transmitted infections is impeded. Combined with increasing economic insecurity and gender-based violence, this may lead to increasing rates of unwanted pregnancies and unsafe abortions, and thus rising incidences of preventable maternal mortality and morbidity (49). Some governments have also increased restrictions on sexual and reproductive health services, such as comprehensive sexuality education (50, 51) and abortion (52). State efforts to reduce COVID-19 transmission, including mobility restrictions, geographical lockdowns and curfews, have impeded women and girls from attending clinics for necessary sexual and reproductive health care. Even where countries have deemed sexual and reproductive health care as essential, barriers such as transportation and mobility bans prevent patients and providers from travelling to clinics (46).

See also the 2020 statement by the United Nations Working Group on Discrimination against Women and Girls: "Restrictions on the provision of health services essential to women and girls, such as pre- and post-natal care, termination of pregnancy and the availability of contraceptives, imposed in many countries to address the excessive demands on health services caused by the pandemic, also affects women's and girls' health disproportionately" (23).

GOOD PRACTICES

In the United States of America, the Telehealth Services were launched, a virtual health-care service that allows people to access a range of sexual and reproductive health services, including contraception, emergency contraception, trans/non-binary hormone therapy, and treatment for sexually transmitted infections, by video conferencing and telephone (53).

In Kyrgyzstan, the National AIDS Centre is providing three-month supplies of antiretroviral medicines to all people living with HIV who are on treatment. Hospitals in Thailand are dispensing supplies of antiretroviral medicines to cover three to six months for people whose condition is stable, in line with WHO guidance, to prevent people from running out of medicines and to reduce the need for routine visits during the pandemic (54).

The Eurasian Women's Network on AIDS, with support from UNFPA Eastern Europe and Central Asia, launched a dedicated hotline to help people living with HIV and key populations who have difficulties accessing antiretroviral therapy services, reproductive health services, and gender-based violence counselling and services due to the pandemic and associated quarantines, border closures, lockdowns, and disruptions in supplies chains and service provision (55).

England, France and Ireland are allowing remote consultations with patients seeking abortions (56). The Government of France is ensuring continued delivery of the contraceptive pill to women, even if they are unable to renew their prescriptions (57).

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Designate sexual and reproductive health care, including condoms, pre- and postexposure prophylaxis, antiretroviral therapy, diagnosis and treatment of sexually transmitted infections, safe abortion where legal,² contraception, and maternal and newborn care, as essential care for all women and girls, including women in prisons and other places of detention (59).
- Guarantee preventive and curative health care for women and girls in all their diversity, and all recommended COVID-19 services, with particular attention being paid to the most marginalized women and girls, and ensure sexual and reproductive health information, supplies and care are integrated into all current and future emergency health frameworks and financing schemes moving forward, along with plans for accessibility during public health crises for all women and girls in all their diversity.
- Implement communication and engagement between law-enforcement and health and social services where appropriate so that people can access health care and essential services without any fear of law enforcement, including deportation and punishment. Allow for self-care and telemedicine counselling and treatment, where practically and medically feasible.
- Prevent and prohibit reassignment of sexual and reproductive health resources and staff
 without ensuring appropriate and acceptable alternatives, and ensure uninterrupted
 access to essential sexual and reproductive health information, supplies and services
 for all people without discrimination, allowing people to travel for (or be transported

² "To the full extent of the law, safe abortion services should be readily available and affordable to all women" (58).

to) services, including maternal health care, abortion, reproductive cancer diagnoses and treatments, hormone treatment, condoms, contraception, including emergency contraception, antiretroviral therapy, pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis, and treatment of sexually transmitted infections, allowing for multi-month prescribing and dispensing, and where feasible through mail and with telemedicine counselling.

ADDRESS THE NEGLECTED EPIDEMIC OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS

It is estimated that globally 243 million women and girls aged 15–49 years have been subjected to sexual and/or physical violence perpetrated by an intimate partner in the past 12 months (60, 61). With half of the world's population on lockdown during the pandemic, gender-based violence is increasing due to strains on mental health, security and income and cramped living conditions. For example, there has been a 30% increase in cases of domestic violence in France since the country's lockdown began on 17 March 2020. Calls to helplines in Cyprus and Singapore have reportedly risen by 30% and 33%, respectively (60). In Brazil's Sao Paulo state, which has been hard hit by the pandemic, there has been a 45% jump in cases of violence against women where police were dispatched in the past month, compared with a year earlier. In Colombia, domestic violence calls to a national women's hotline increased by nearly 130% during the first 18 days of the country's quarantine (62). In some countries, domestic violence reports have almost tripled, but there are few shelters and only limited capacity in those that do exist (23).

For women living with HIV, gender-based violence can impede HIV prevention and access to services (6). Violence, and the fear of violence, makes it especially difficult for women to decide whether they will have sex (and with whom) or to negotiate safer sex (63, 64). Violence, or the potential for it, discourages many women living with HIV from disclosing their HIV-positive status to their partners, families and health providers, making it more difficult for women and girls to stay on HIV treatment (65, 66).

Women and girls may face specific risks of violence due to their gender identity or sexual orientation. Such violence may be at the hands of their families, partners or communities; this is particularly so for adolescents forced to co-isolate in hostile family homes or neighbourhoods (67). These situations are compounded in countries where some forms of sexual orientation and gender identity and expression are criminalized, limiting access to justice or support due to fear of prosecution (68, 69). Criminalization can likewise increase violence against sex workers and women who use drugs (70, 71). Women and girls with disabilities are also facing disruptions to support networks that are essential for their survival, increasing their vulnerability to violence (72).

Lifesaving support for women who experience violence, such as clinical management of rape, urgent medical care, and psychosocial support (43), may be disrupted when health-service providers are overburdened. Even where essential services are maintained, physical distancing and a collapse in the coordinated response between law enforcement, health and social services providers and justice actors mean that sectors will be challenged to provide meaningful support to survivors (60).

Where women and girls have access to technology, online violence is increasing. Before the pandemic, 1 in 10 women in the European Union reported having experienced cyberharassment after the age of 15 years, including unwanted, offensive or sexually explicit emails or text messages, or offensive inappropriate advances on social networking sites (73). During the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of online platforms has increased. Some have seized on this opportunity to groom young people into exploitative situations (74). According to Europol, online activity by people searching for child abuse material is increasing (75).

GOOD PRACTICES

FIDA-Kenya, a women's rights organization in Kenya, has launched a hotline to provide free counselling and legal aid services for people experiencing gender-based violence during the pandemic (76).³

UNFPA has supported the creation of a gender-based violence and mental health and psychosocial support hotline through a local partner in Tripoli, Libya. More than 470 phone calls have been received, including calls related to medical consultations, COVID-19 and other issues.

The Ministry of Women's Affairs in Tunisia, with support from UNFPA, has set up a new temporary shelter for survivors of gender-based violence, and supported three existing shelters with personal protective equipment products (77).

In France, women can discretely report violence to pharmacists by using a code word. The French Government has created a 24-hour platform for confidential reporting of sexual and gender-based violence (78). The Government has also agreed to pay for 20 000 nights in hotel rooms for survivors of domestic violence, to open pop-up counselling centres at supermarkets (79), and to promptly issue legal protection orders for women and children.

UNAIDS is working with civil society networks in Thailand to monitor and report cases of violence and other human rights violations among key populations and people living with HIV during the pandemic. Using an online tool, community members can report to a crisis response team human rights abuses and other forms of discrimination, including physical violence, disclosure of HIV status, being tested for HIV without consent, and discrimination in workplaces and schools. The team consists of a multidisciplinary group of people such as community health workers, health-care providers, social workers, lawyers and police officers, and can provide immediate assistance, including social and health support, mediate with management in workplaces and education institutes, and arrange for volunteer lawyers to support survivors in court.

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Integrate violence prevention and support into all emergency response planning, allocating sufficient supplies and resources for this purpose (80), and including women and girls in all their diversity in the development and implementation of such plans, and incorporate anti-violence messages and available resources and social, psychological, health and legal services available for survivors into mass media and social media campaigns.
- Ensure women's centres, shelters, domestic violence helplines, police protection, legal aid and other critical services are identified as essential services, and continue to operate and identify safe spaces where women and gender-diverse people can report abuse without alerting perpetrators. Include exceptions in lockdown and confinement orders for survivors who seek assistance outside the home, and enable safe passage when fleeing violence.
- Scale up and leverage online and virtual support networks. Where such options do not
 exist, bolster existing women's rights organizations and collectives to lead in-person
 support and provide necessary protective equipment and training for them to do so
 safely.

³ See also https://twitter.com/fidakenya/status/1251113908238200832.

- Prioritize legal rights and awareness programmes to empower women and girls living with HIV who are criminalized or otherwise stigmatized with knowledge of the law, their rights and entitlements, and information on how to access legal aid.
- Longer term, adopt a whole-of-government approach to ending gender-based violence, to coordinate and unite entities to prevent and eradicate violence, including through implementing a well-resourced national strategy that outlines roles and responsibilities, assessment indicators, and a risk-based approach that can be applied before, during and following crises.

STOP MISUSE OF CRIMINAL AND PUNITIVE LAWS

In a bid to combat COVID-19, many states are resorting to aggressive policing, punishments, criminal law and other conduct in the name of public health (81). In general, states are enforcing traditional public health measures such as periods of quarantine alongside criminal sanctions and criminalizing COVID-19 exposure and transmission, in a manner that resembles HIV criminalization. Women can get caught up in punitive law enforcement during the pandemic when fleeing violence, seeking access to critical health services, including sexual and reproductive health services, or leaving home to work to feed their families and survive (82, 83).

Criminalized populations, including lesbians, transgender people, sex workers, migrants, and people who use drugs, may experience a compounded human rights impact. They can face multiple forms of policing and punishment, deterring them from obtaining COVID-19 testing and treatment, protection from violence, or essential sexual and reproductive health care, including HIV prevention, testing and treatment. Without appropriate safeguards, new electronic contact-tracing technology may pose a great risk to criminalized people living in fear of police apprehension, as their movements and health status can be tracked (84). The application of these technologies raises questions regarding compliance with privacy rights standards, including medical privacy, which need to be addressed.

CASE STUDIES

Sex worker-led organizations are reporting systematic exclusion from financial and social protection schemes, particularly where sex work is criminalized. As a result, sex workers are forced to put their health and safety at risk to earn money (85). Twenty-four sex workers and six of their clients were arrested in Kenya for violating COVID-19 directives (86). Sex workers in South Africa report police brutality if found in the streets, when they are simply working to survive (87). Sex workers in Uganda are being targeted with violence, blackmail and arrest by police. Many of these women and their families have also been denied food aid by local government officials, and sex workers living with HIV and their children are struggling to get HIV treatment refills, pre-exposure prophylaxis, treatment for sexually transmitted infections, and contraception due to poor government planning (88).

Although states are permitted to restrict human rights in some cases, including to protect public health, their power is not unlimited. States' restrictions must have a legitimate purpose and be strictly necessary and proportionate. They must also be limited in duration, reviewable by a court and non-discriminatory. Exceptions to punitive regulations should be made for particularly marginalized populations who, due to their circumstances and existing inequalities, cannot comply with regulations. Research confirms that criminalizing people who violate public health regulations can do more harm than good (89).

As the HIV epidemic has shown, criminalization disproportionately impacts the most marginalized people. People with economic security, housing, healthy food and clean water can more easily stay home to protect their health, but people living in poverty, who have lost their jobs or housing, and who have no social security may struggle to comply with public health orders. Women also experience a disproportionate impact of punitive COVID-19 measures, given increasing gender-based violence and their overrepresentation in informal economies. Women and gender-diverse people seeking to escape violent situations or continuing to work to survive can get caught up in criminal law enforcement for violating movement restrictions. In some contexts, transgender people cannot leave their homes without facing punishment under gender-segregated quarantine measures. For example, a transgender woman health outreach worker in Panama was detained by police for being out on the "wrong day" (90). Authorities have been reported to check individuals' official documents to confirm their gender identity when enforcing the rule. Similar gender-specific quarantine regulations have been rolled out in Boqotá, Colombia.

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Ensure COVID-19 responses, as well as general emergency responses moving forward, are legal and have a legitimate aim (i.e. promoting public health), are necessary, are proportionate, are non-discriminatory, are limited in duration and reviewable by a court, and avoid punishing people who cannot comply with public health orders due to their health, socioeconomic status or existing inequalities.
- Issue a moratorium on laws that criminalize individuals' consensual sex, reproduction, gender expression, personal use or possession of drugs, and HIV exposure, non-disclosure and transmission, and work to repeal such laws moving forward. Refocus law-enforcement measures on ensuring public safety and referring marginalized groups to health and social services.
- Immediately release people who have been arrested and detained for non-violent charges. Moving forward, consider alternatives to pre-trial detention and commutation or temporary suspension of certain sentences for minor non-violent offences.
- Exercise caution when developing and relying on electronic contact-tracing tools as they
 may have implications for privacy rights and the potential of unintended consequences
 and discriminatory use.
- Avoid the introduction of new legislation or the application of existing legislation to criminalize exposure, non-disclosure or transmission of viruses and communicable diseases, and limit punishment to rare cases where intentional conduct can be demonstrated by evidence.

GOOD PRACTICES

In New Zealand, where sex work is decriminalized and treated as work, sex workers are easily able to access emergency wage subsidies during the pandemic (available to all by providing a national identity number and basic personal information) and are immediately eligible for jobseekers' benefits (91). Although some have needed help with obtaining identity numbers and bank accounts, officials have provided assistance. Some support for sex workers in New Zealand is still needed, but the situation appears to be much less dire and sex workers are better equipped to comply with public health orders.

Afghanistan, Chile, India, Indonesia, the Islamic Republic of Iran, South Africa and Thailand have released from prison large numbers of people sentenced for non-violent offences, and many more countries are releasing people in pre-trial detention in a bid to limit the spread of COVID-19 in places of incarceration.

PRIORITIZE ADOLESCENT GIRLS' AND YOUNG WOMEN'S EDUCATION, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

Approximately 89% of students worldwide are out of school because of COVID-19 closures, many without adequate solutions for remote learning, and without crucial health and social services such as school feeding programmes. This represents 1.54 billion children and youth enrolled in school or university, including nearly 743 million girls (92). Past crises show that adolescent girls are more likely to drop out after school closures, which further entrenches gender gaps in education and leads to increased rates of early and forced marriage, early pregnancy, unplanned or forced sexual activity, risk of physical and sexual abuse by peers and older men, and transactional sex to cover basic needs (92–96). Children often dropped out of school in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone during the Ebola epidemic due to increased domestic and caring responsibilities and the need for income generation (92).

Although remote learning approaches have been deployed to great effect, there is a stark gender digital divide (97), which may prevent adolescent girls and young women from fully engaging in and benefiting from remote solutions. As schools scramble to develop remote curricula, there is a real risk that comprehensive sexuality education will be left behind; for example, delaying puberty education—a key component of comprehensive sexuality education—by a year could mean many girls will begin menstruating without having learned about it (98). This places adolescent girls at particular risk, as many will lose access to critical sexual and reproductive health information, and girls may be unable to leave their homes to access HIV and sexual and reproductive health services without parental consent. Similar school closures during the Ebola outbreak led to a 65% increase in adolescent pregnancies in Sierra Leone (18, 92). Past school closures have also led to increases in early and forced marriages (99), transactional sex to cover basic needs (100), and sexual abuse (101). School closures have cut off many learners from the health, nutrition and social support services typically provided in school environments. Notably, adolescent girls are more likely to face malnutrition, because the meals provided at school are an essential source of nourishment that may not be provided at home.

Pregnant girls and adolescents with children often do not return to school due to stigma, child-care obligations, economic considerations, and laws, policies and practices that limit their access to education. Quarantine measures that exacerbate already cramped and limited housing and increasing economic strains may lead to child or early marriage (102). Pregnant adolescents living with HIV are at higher risk of mental health problems, poor

treatment adherence and retention in care, and suboptimal health outcomes. They may require additional counselling, linkages to social safety nets, and postnatal care to manage their unique psychosocial stressors (103).

Disabled women and girls may be unable to work with support workers to access sexual and reproductive health services. If they must rely on a partner or family member to seek care, that dependence makes them susceptible to violence and abuse (72).

Girls' education has long been recognized as a critical tool in the fight against HIV, the advancement of gender equality, and enhancing the health and welfare of families and communities (104). Education for girls, especially secondary education, has a protective effect against HIV (105–107). Education has been specifically associated with reduced HIV infection among young women (108); when Botswana extended mandatory secondary education, for instance, it found that each additional year of schooling after year 9 was associated with a 12% reduction in girls' risks of acquiring HIV (105). By contrast, discrimination in education and economic opportunities undermines women's and girls' agency and limits their decision-making power within relationships, families and societies, heightening their risk of acquiring HIV (6, 109).

GOOD PRACTICES

The Lesotho Ministry of Health and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), through its implementing partner Help Lesotho, are providing remote health counselling, COVID-19 information and psychosocial support through teleconsultations for young men and pregnant or breastfeeding adolescent girls and women aged 15–24 years, and their children, participating in the 2gether 4 SRHR Young Mothers Programme. The consultations are done through individual WhatsApp messages and phone calls, using a modified survey that includes questions on continuity and access to maternal and child care, prevention of vertical transmission, sexual reproductive health, HIV prevention and testing, mental health, birth registration, and prevention of sexual and gender-based violence (110).

To urgently address the disproportionate impact that COVID-19 and stay-at-home orders would have on adolescent girls and young women, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) has adapted the existing Let's Talk campaign.⁴ This campaign was originally created with UNFPA, SAfAIDS and Save the Children Sweden in 21 countries in eastern and southern Africa to prevent and address early and unwanted pregnancies and to keep girls in school. Using social media, the adapted campaign generates dialogue and information on how to ensure women and girls are safe at home, know where they can turn for help in their communities, and are supported to return to school once it is safe, as well as core campaign messages on education, health and rights.

The Eurasian Union of Adolescents, Teenergizer, has not only continued its support for adolescent girls and young women affected by HIV, but also expanded its services during COVID-19 lockdowns in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. The organization has transitioned to the provision of online services, which include facilitation of confidential support groups for adolescents living with HIV, internships for HIV-negative adolescents, and training for educational institutions. Website enquiries for peer-to-peer online counselling on teenergizer.com have increased four-fold since the lockdowns began. Sixty-nine per cent of the website users are girls and young women aged 18–34 years. Through a series of live broadcasts, videos and articles on social media, thousands of adolescents and young people in the region were covered by the #StaySafe campaign, received reliable information on obtaining psychological support and help with adapting to quarantine orders and security measures during the pandemic, and received sex education and information on HIV (see @teenergizer on Instagram and Facebook) (111).

⁴ https://letstalkeup.com.

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Ensure gender-responsive approaches to remote learning, including through measures to bridge the gender digital divide (e.g. collect sex-disaggregated data on participation in distance learning programmes; use public-private partnerships to make gender-responsive distance learning materials and learning opportunities free of charge; and provide broadband and mobile network connections that ensure accessibility for adolescent girls and young women with disabilities). In contexts where digital solutions are less accessible, consider using low technology such as reading and writing materials and radio and television broadcasts to reach the most marginalized people. Ensure programme scheduling and learning structures are flexible, and allow self-paced learning so as not to deter girls who are disproportionately shouldering the burden of care.
- Provide feeding programmes, take-home rations and conditional cash transfers to encourage girls to stay in school or to incentivize them to return to school, and prioritize ongoing education for girls and young women. Ensure community engagement around the importance of girls' education, including sexual and reproductive health information.
- Guarantee access to non-discriminatory, evidence-based comprehensive sexuality education (using innovative and interactive methods, both digital and non-digital) for all adolescent girls and young women, including those with disabilities, both in and out of school settings, that challenges gender stereotypes and gender-based violence, including during the COVID-19 pandemic. Remove barriers to accessing sexual and reproductive health information services, such as parental consent requirements.
- Longer term, develop gender-responsive education sector contingency plans and budgets, grounded in gender analyses of roles, risks, responsibilities and social norms. These must consider mitigation and response measures for additional caregiving burdens, heightened risks of gender-based violence and early pregnancy, and other adverse impacts of the pandemic.
- Longer term, promote gender equality in and through education, including through targeted measures to support young women to complete secondary education, and through programmes designed to build women's skills for the world of work.

VALUE WOMEN'S WORK AND MAKE UNPAID CARE WORK EVERYBODY'S WORK

In the world of work, women aged 25–34 years are 22% more likely than men to live in extreme poverty (112). This economic inequality is likely to increase further during the COVID-19 pandemic and its aftermath. The global pause in the world economy is disproportionately impacting women, particularly women heads of households, who more often work in positions that lack basic social or legal protection and employment benefits, including in informal work that is more precarious, lesser paid and subject to market fluctuations.

Formally employed women work shorter hours than men, earn less and enjoy less seniority than their male counterparts (113, 114). With less status in formal labour markets, women are more likely to experience job losses, particularly in developing countries and emerging economies (115). As women often hold less wealth than men, job losses can be devastating (116, 117). Women are also disproportionately represented in informal work. There are approximately 126 million women working in informal economies, such as domestic workers, women living in rural areas and sex workers, and in other industries and sectors, who are

disproportionately affected by the pandemic. Young women are especially impacted, as 77% of young workers are in the informal economy and many are working in part-time or temporary jobs or in the "gig economy" (21). With the widespread loss of livelihoods and fewer employment opportunities, transactional sex, sex work and sexual exploitation may increase (118).

As women lose their paid employment, their unpaid care work has increased exponentially due to school closures and the burden of caring for older dependents (2). Before the pandemic, women were doing two and a half times more unpaid household and care work than men (119, 120). Occupied with cooking, cleaning, fetching water, food and firewood, and taking care of children, family members living with HIV and elderly people, women have less time to undertake paid work, or they work longer hours by combining paid and unpaid work. Compared with men, women perform on average three times as much unpaid care and domestic work, including caring for elderly or ill family members (121). While women's unpaid work subsidizes the cost of care that sustains families, supports economies and makes up for lack of social services, it is rarely treated as "work" (122), despite it being valued to be 10–39% of the gross domestic product and to contribute more to the economy than the manufacturing, commerce or transportation sectors (120, 123).

The imposition of unpaid care and domestic work on women and girls is grounded in traditional gender roles, which are being re-entrenched during the COVID-19 pandemic. Women's role as "caretakers" has come to the fore as increasing domestic work has been imposed on them in recent months. School closures have increased both child-care and educational tasks, again which have typically been absorbed by women (115, 124). As health-care systems become strained in high-income countries, and in low-income countries where health infrastructure is weak, health-care responsibilities are frequently loaded on to women and girls (125).

GOOD PRACTICES

UN Women launched the #HeForShe@Home campaign to highlight the unfair reality that women make up 70% of workers in the health and social sector and do 3 times as much unpaid care work at home as men, and to call on men to take on their equal share of domestic and care work (126).

The Government of Thailand is providing 3-month allowances of 500 baht (US\$ 150) to support informal workers, the majority of whom are women, not covered by social insurance, if they register with one of 3 state-owned banks or online (115).

Swasthi, a community-based nongovernmental organization in India, is distributing rice, lentils, cooking oil and small amounts of cash to transgender people and women living with HIV in Madurai during the pandemic, as most of these people are struggling to work and earn money. UNAIDS and UNICEF have been supporting networks of sex workers to develop income-generating schemes so they can compensate for the loss of income caused by COVID-19 (127).

In Bangladesh, UNAIDS has joined forces with the sex workers network and the country coordinating mechanism to support 23 community-based organizations of sex workers to procure protective commodities such as soap and masks during the initial stages of the response to COVID-19 (128).

WOMEN'S LEADING ROLE IN COVID-19 RESPONSES AND HEALTH-CARE PROVISION

As well as being the primary caretakers at home, women are also providing most of the COVID-19 care in hospitals and clinics. Women constitute almost 70% of the health workforce worldwide, but they are more often employed in lower-level positions that receive lesser pay. Research conducted in 104 countries found that women made up around 85% of nurses and midwives (115, 129). Women also make up the majority of health facility service workers, such as cleaning, laundry and catering staff, and as such are more likely to be exposed to the virus. Despite working at the frontlines of COVID-19 care responses, in some areas women have less access than men to personal protective equipment or correctly sized equipment (96). Women health-care workers engaged in the response report particular challenges around the use of personal protective equipment when they are menstruating, including lack of adequate flexibility or facilities to manage their menstruation with dignity (130).

Despite women constituting a majority of health-care workers and primary caregivers at home, placing them in prime positions to problem-solve at the local level, they continue to occupy few positions in national and global health leadership (131, 132). Inclusion of women frontline workers in health and other sectors in all decision-making and policy spaces could improve health security surveillance, detection and prevention mechanisms (115). Given women health-care workers' vulnerability to workplace violence, due to pre-existing gender roles, power dynamics, and rising tensions during COVID-19 (133), they must also be included in the design and implementation of measures to ensure their security and safety in health-care settings. Advancing women in leadership as a whole could have positive impacts. There is an emerging consensus that all of the countries that have shown the strongest leadership in this crisis are led by women (134).

Women have effectively led public health crisis responses in the past. For example, progress in the HIV context has hinged on greater involvement of affected communities, particularly women living with HIV, young women and women community leaders. Sustained investment in women as change agents in women's mobilization, such as support for networks of women living with HIV, has proven successful in diverse regions and settings and should therefore be prioritized (135, 136). Along similar lines, reliance on local women to raise awareness about Ebola through community networks in Liberia and Sierra Leone helped to ensure lifesaving information shared was relatable and delivered by a trustworthy source. This approach of integrating a gender-focused response that relies on local women's networks had a significant impact on the successful regional containment of the Ebola crisis (137).

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS NEEDED

Governments should:

- Take measures to reduce the risk of COVID-19 exposure for all health-care workers in clinics, hospitals, nursing homes and other care facilities, and provide appropriately sized personal protective equipment, shorter hours, more frequent breaks, adequate and appropriate menstrual health and hygiene management facilities, temporary removal from the risk and compensation if exposed, psychosocial support, and equal pay for equal work.
- Provide subsidies and vouchers for child-care services, and child and elderly care options for people working in health-care and other essential services, and ensure unpaid care work is recognized and valued as a vital contribution to the economy moving forward; and put in place legal, policy and cultural change measures to promote equal distribution of domestic and care work.
- Shift economic structures to account for and fairly remunerate informal work, and implement safe working conditions and health and economic protections for this sector.

WOMEN LIVING WITH HIV PROVIDE BOLD LEADERSHIP AND SUPPORT IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Networks of women living with HIV have been securing resources, documenting rights violations, and mobilizing to support women, including those from key populations, to access medicines, food and other essential supplies—in some cases, filling in where governments have failed to take action to protect women living HIV. The International Community of Women Living with HIV and AIDS (ICW) Eastern Africa is advocating for sexual and reproductive health and rights to be considered as essential services in the context of COVID-19. The network successfully lobbied the Ugandan Government to exempt pregnant women from the lockdown so they can travel to health facilities.

In Nigeria, ICW West Africa members are serving as community pharmacists to provide antiretroviral medicines.

The Association Tunisienne de Prevention Positive, ICW Costa Rica, ICW Mexico, ICW Zimbabwe, the National Federation of Women Living with HIV and AIDS Nepal, Positive Women Ukraine, and the Viet Nam Network of Women Living with HIV are delivering food packages and provisions to the most vulnerable women, including sex workers and women in conflict regions. Adolescent girls and young women in Africa are using the ATHENA Network #WhatWomenWant and #WhatGirlsWant platforms to share experiences and advocate for human rights (138).

- Include self-employed and informal workers, without discrimination, in unemployment assistance and other financial and social support programmes, ensuring access for sex workers, women who use drugs, gender-diverse women, migrant women and other groups of women at risk of exclusion. Direct financial support to hard-hit women-led enterprises and businesses, with subsidized and state-backed loans and tax and social security payment deferrals and exemptions.
- Adopt and enforce non-discrimination laws and policies in workplaces, particularly
 as employers reorganize and downsize, and reinforce accountability mechanisms and
 redress for women experiencing employment discrimination.
- Place a moratorium on evictions and allow for loan forgiveness and debt reduction for women struggling to make rent or mortgage payments. Provide emergency housing options, including access to shelters, for people without permanent housing or who face risk of abuse or violence at home.

RISE FOR ALL: THE UNITED NATIONS INITIATIVE TO LEVERAGE WOMEN'S EXPERTISE AND LEADERSHIP

Rise for All is a new women-led global advocacy effort to support the United Nations Roadmap for Social and Economic Recovery from COVID-19 (139–141), and to fully fund the United Nations Response and Recovery Trust Fund (142). It is a five-pillar initiative that is "not only measured in monetary terms, but in livelihoods, vulnerabilities and confidence in government to lead economies and societies through this process" (143). As stated by the United Nations Deputy Secretary-General: "Like no other time in recent history, women are on the frontlines of COVID-19 and bearing the brunt of this human crisis ... It is time for us to rise as women leaders, taking action to conquer the pandemic and come out stronger so as to keep the world on track to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals by 2030" (139, 140).

"When we get past this crisis, we will face a choice ... we can go back to the world as it was before or deal decisively with those issues that make us all unnecessarily vulnerable to crises."

António Guterres, United Nations Secretary-General

VISIONING THE FUTURE: LONGER-TERM CHANGE NEEDED

COVID-19 is not only a health issue, just as HIV never was. It impacts on a wide range of human rights, and although it affects all people, it does so unequally. Women and girls in all their diversity are experiencing the greatest impact of the crisis. COVID-19 has highlighted the stark inequalities across societies, with a lack of pandemic preparedness and fragile or non-functioning institutions posing graver impacts.

We must ensure that COVID-19 responses do not deepen existing structural inequalities, create new vulnerabilities, or roll back hard-fought gains in gender equality and women's and girls' human rights, or advancements in the removal of structural barriers to HIV prevention, testing, treatment and care. Instead, states, in collaboration with civil society, development actors and communities, including women leaders, must innovate from the ground up, creating new opportunities for a different future that is just and equitable. The most marginalized women and girls in our communities must be prioritized and included in the development of states' COVID-19 responses and post-recovery efforts. Now is the time for significant structural reforms that protect health, including for HIV and future possible outbreaks and emergencies and promote security more broadly and yet still account for and remedy the reality that some people live in unacceptable and inhumane conditions and face discrimination.

It is time to create a new order—not "business as usual", but a paradigm shift that ensures all people can live with dignity; have access to basic health care, protection and a safety net in times of crisis; and do not experience violence, discrimination or oppression because of who they are, where they were born, the colour of their skin, or their sex or gender. It is time to "build back better" (2).

REFERENCES

- 1. Jian-Min J, Peng B, Wei H, et al. Gender differences in patients with COVID-19: focus on severity and mortality. Front Publ Health. 2020 (https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00152).
- 2. Put women and girls at centre of COVID-19 recovery: UN Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/04/1061452).
- Lessons from HIV prevention for preventing SARS-CoV-2 in low- and middle-income countries. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Global HIV Prevention Group; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/lessons-hiv-prevention-covid19).
- 4. Universal values principle two: leave no one behind. New York: United Nations Sustainable Development Group; 2020 (https://unsdg.un.org/2030-agenda/universal-values/leave-no-one-behind).
- 5. Saving lives: leaving no one behind. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2018 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/about_unaids_en.pdf).
- We've got the power: women, adolescent girls and the HIV response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.aidsdatahub.org/sites/default/files/publication/UNAIDS_2020_ women-adolescent-girls-and-hiv_2020.pdf).
- 7. UN launches COVID-19 plan that could "defeat the virus and build a better world". New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/03/1060702).
- 8. Leading the realization of human rights to health and through health: report of the High-level Working Group on the Health and Human Rights of Women, Children and Adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255540/9789241512459-eng.pdf).
- 9. Risks, rights and health. New York: Global Commission on HIV and the Law; 2012 (https://hivlawcommission.org/wp-content/uploadms/2017/06/FinalReport-RisksRightsHealth-EN.pdf).
- 10. Risks, rights and health: 2018 supplement. New York: Global Commission on HIV and the Law (https://hivlawcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Hiv-and-the-Law-supplement_EN.pdf).
- 11. Addressing human rights as key to the COVID-19 response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/addressing-human-rights-as-key-to-the-covid-19-response).
- 12. COVID-19: exceptional measures should not be cover for human rights abuses and violations—Bachelet. Geneva: Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25828&LangID=E).
- 13. E/CN.4/1985/4. United Nations Commission on Human Rights, 41st Session, Siracusa Principles on the Limitation and Derogation Provisions in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 1984.
- 14. E/CN.4/1987/17. United Nations Commission on Human Rights, 43rd Session, Annex, Limburg Principles on the Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 1987, Annex.
- 15. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on family planning and ending gender-based violence, female genital mutilation and child marriage: pandemic threatens achievement of the transformative results committed to by UNFPA. Interim technical note. Geneva: United Nations Population Fund, with contributions from Avenir Health, Johns Hopkins University and Victoria University, Australia; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19_impact_brief_for_UNFPA_24_April_2020_1.pdf).
- 16. The missing millions from the gender lens discussion of COVID-19. Geneva: International Disability Alliance; 2020 (http://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/blog/gender-COVID19-follow-up).
- 17. COVID-19 and indigenous peoples. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/covid-19.html).
- Recovering from the Ebola virus disease: rapid assessment of pregnant adolescent girls in Sierra Leone.
 New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2017 (https://sierraleone.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Rapid%20Assessment%20of%20Pregnant%20Adolescent%20Girls.pdf).
- 19. Technical note on COVID-19 and harm practices. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/media/67506/file/TechnicalNote-COVID-19-and-HarmfulPractices-April%202020.pdf).
- COVID-19 and child, early and forced marriage: an agenda for action. London: Girls Not Brides; 2020 (https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-and-child-early-and-forced-marriage_FINAL.pdf).

- 21. Global employment trends for youth 2020: technology and the future of jobs. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2020 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_737648.pdf).
- 22. Protecting and mobilizing youth in COVID-19 responses. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2020 (https://www.un.org/development/desa/youth/news/2020/05/covid-19/).
- Statement by the United Nations Working Group on Discrimination against Women and Girls: responses
 to the COVID-19 pandemic must not discount women and girls. Geneva: Office of the United Nations
 High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.
 aspx?NewsID=25808&LangID=E).
- 24. Decent work for migrant domestic workers: moving the agenda forward. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2016 (http://ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---migrant/documents/publication/wcms_535596.pdf).
- 25. Griffin J, Rivera Antara D. "Separation by sex": gendered lockdown fuelling hate crime on streets of Bogotá. Guardian, 8 May 2020 (https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/may/08/separation-by-sex-gendered-lockdown-fuelling-hate-on-streets-of-bogota).
- 26. Statement by human rights experts on the International Day against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia: COVID-19—the suffering and resilience of LGBT persons must be visible and inform the actions of states. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25884&LangID=E).
- 27. Let transgender people be in the picture. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/may/20200514_transgender-people).
- 28. Vulnerability amplified: the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on LGBTIQ people. New York: Outright Action International; 2020 (https://outrightinternational.org/sites/default/files/COVIDsReportDesign_FINAL_LR_0.pdf).
- 29. Williams T, Weiser B, Rashbaum WK. "Jails are Petri dishes": inmates freed as the virus spreads behind bars. New York Times, 31 March 2020 (https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/30/us/coronavirus-prisons-jails.html).
- 30. Women's health care in correctional settings. Chicago, IL: National Commission on Correctional Health Care (https://www.ncchc.org/womens-health-care).
- 31. What people living with HIV need to know about HIV and COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/HIV_COVID-19_brochure_en.pdf).
- 32. Condoms and lubricants in the time of COVID-19: sustaining supplies and people-centred approaches to meet the need in low- and middle-income countries. Geneva: Global HIV Prevention Coalition, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and United Nations Population Fund; 2020.
- 33. Health alert: Canton latest to close its syringe program. Granville, OH: Harm Reduction International; 2020 (https://www.harmreductionohio.org/covid-19-updates-syringe-programs-ongoing/).
- 34. Jiang H, Zhou Y, Tang W. Maintaining HIV care during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet HIV. 2020 (doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30105-3).
- 35. The cost of inaction: COVID-19-related service disruptions could cause hundreds of thousands of extra deaths from HIV. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/may/20200511_PR_HIV_modelling).
- 36. UNODC supports HIV health-care services in Namibia's prisons. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2019 (https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/hiv-aids/new/stories/unodc-supports-hiv-health-care-services-in-namibias-prisons.html).
- 37. Imprisoned, quarantined women need hygiene supplies in El Salvador. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/news/imprisoned-quarantined-women-need-hygiene-supplies-el-salvador?_qa=2.106236102.456203166.1589604715-1660141479.1589604715).
- 38. Internal communication. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020.
- 39. Keeping HIV treatment available in Pakistan during COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/april/20200415_pakistan).
- 40. EMCDDA update on the implications of COVID-19 for people who use drugs (PWUD) and drug service providers. Lisbon: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction and World Health Organization; 2020 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/12879/emcdda-covid-update-1-25.03.2020v2. pdf).

- 41. Technical guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Geneva: World Health Organization, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2012.
- 42. COVID-19: operational guidance for maintaining essential health services during an outbreak—interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/covid-19-operational-guidance-for-maintaining-essential-health-services-during-an-outbreak).
- 43. Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/mental-health-considerations.pdf).
- 44. Guidance note on CEDAW and COVID-19. New York: Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CEDAW/Pages/CEDAWIndex.aspx).
- 45. New UNFPA projections predict calamitous impact on women's health as COVID-19 pandemic continues. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/press/new-unfpa-projections-predict-calamitous-impact-womens-health-covid-19-pandemic-continues?fbclid=lwAR0vD9WiUZeKxlEq5Hslexi5ec_DpYrX6M2KaDxp17ZHmsinLykGvNiJje8).
- 46. Bagnetto LA. Sexual healthcare efforts falter in Africa as countries focus on Covid-19. Paris: Radio France Internationale; 2020 (http://www.rfi.fr/en/africa/20200413-sexual-healthcare-efforts-falter-in-africa-as-countries-focus-on-covid-19).
- 47. Cayabyab MJ. Woman dies after being refused by 6 hospitals. Philippine Star, 26 April 2020 (https://www.philstar.com/nation/2020/04/26/2009815/woman-dies-after-being-refused-6-hospitals?fbclid=lwAR0fka396dCRyiZJaKASTDqh26gFDANxRZOQYIYJvcH4E8gaK1HvQa-oj0o).
- 48. COVID-19: Indian Muslims face stigma, blame for surge in infections. Gulf News, 25 April 2020 (https://gulfnews.com/world/asia/india/covid-19-indian-muslims-face-stigma-blame-for-surge-in-infections-1.71170710).
- 49. Kotlar B. Amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, we must remember maternal health. Boston, MA: Maternal Health Task Force; 2020 (https://www.mhtf.org/2020/04/18/amidst-the-covid-19-pandemic-we-must-remember-maternal-health/).
- 50. Poland uses COVID-19 pandemics to push for further restrictions on women's access to sexual and reproductive rights. Warsaw: Federation of Women and Family Planning; 2020 (https://en.federa.org.pl/poland_srhr_bills/).
- 51. Abortion ban and regressive sexuality education laws must not be rushed through under cover of COVID-19. Warsaw: Amnesty International, Poland; 2020 (https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/04/poland/).
- 52. Bearak J, Jones RK, Nash E, Donovan MK. COVID-19 abortion bans would greatly increase driving distances for those seeking care. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2020 (https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2020/04/covid-19-abortion-bans-would-greatly-increase-driving-distances-those-seeking-care).
- 53. Planned Parenthood of Greater New York launches telehealth services amid the COVID-19 pandemic. New York: Planned Parenthood of Greater New York; 2020 (https://www.plannedparenthood.org/planned-parenthood-greater-new-york/about/news/planned-parenthood-of-greater-new-york-launches-telehealth-services-amid-the-covid-19-pandemic).
- 54. Thai hospitals to provide three- to six-month supplies of antiretroviral therapy. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/march/20200325 thailand).
- 55. New hotline available for people with HIV affected by COVID-19 pandemic in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Tbilisi: Eurasian Women's Network on AIDS, ART Help!, and United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (http://www.ewna.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/art-help-release_ewna-unfpa_eng.pdf).
- 56. Todd-Gher J, Shah PK. Abortion in the context of COVID-19: a human rights imperative. Sexual Reprod Health Matt. 2020 (https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/26410397.2020.1758394).
- 57. Confinement et delivrance de la pilule contraceptive. Paris: Secrétariat d'Etat Chargé de l'Egalité entre les Femmes et les Hommes et de la Lutte contre les Discriminations; 2020 (https://www.egalite-femmes-hommes.gouv.fr/cp-confinement-et-delivrance-de-la-pilule-contraceptive).
- 58. Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems, 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/70914/9789241548434_eng. pdf;sequence=1).
- 59. Comprehensive reproductive health care, including abortion care, is essential and time-sensitive health care. New York: Center for Reproductive Rights and Columbia Mailman School of Public Health; 2020 (https://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/USP-COVID-FS-Interactive-Update.pdf).

- 60. COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/issue-brief-covid-19-and-ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-en.pdf?la=en&vs=5006).
- 61. COVID-19 and violence against women: what the health sector/system can do. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331699/WHO-SRH-20.04-eng.pdf?ua=1).
- 62. Sigal L, Ramos Miranda NA, Martinez AI, Machicao M. "Another pandemic": in Latin America, domestic abuse rises amid lockdown. Reuters, 27 April 2020 (https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-latam-domesticviol/another-pandemic-in-latin-america-domestic-abuse-rises-amid-lockdown-idUSKCN2291JS).
- 63. Orza L, Welbourn A, Bewley S, Crone ET, Vazquez M. Building a safe house on firm ground: key findings from a global values and preferences survey regarding the sexual and reproductive health and human rights of women living with HIV. London: Salamander Trust; 2014 (http://salamandertrust.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/BuildingASafeHouseOnFirmGroundFINALreport190115.pdf).
- 64. Report of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women, its Causes and Consequences: a human rights-based approach to mistreatment and violence against women in reproductive health services with a focus on childbirth and obstetric violence. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2019.
- 65. UN Women, AVAC, Athena Network, Salamander Trust. Key barriers to women's access to HIV treatment: a global review. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women; 2017 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/news%20and%20events/stories/2015/key-barriers-to-womens-access-to-hiv-treatment-making-fast-track-a-reality-en.pdf?la=en&vs=733).
- 66. Leddy AM, Weiss E, Yam E, Pulerwitz J. Gender-based violence and engagement in biomedical HIV prevention, care and treatment: a scoping review. BMC Publ Health. 2019;19(1):897.
- 67. COVID-19 and the human rights of LGBTI people. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/LGBT/LGBT/people.pdf).
- 68. Breaking the silence: criminalisation of lesbian and bisexual women and its impacts. London: Human Dignity Trust; 2016 (https://www.humandignitytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/resources/Breaking-the-Silence-Criminalisation-of-LB-Women-and-its-Impacts-FINAL.pdf).
- 69. UN Human Rights Council report: discrimination and violence against individuals based on their sexual orientation and gender identity. New York: United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2015 (https://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/HRC/29/23&referer=/english/&Lang=E).
- 70. Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, Elmes J, Sherman SG, Sanders T, et al., Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(12):e1002680 (https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1002680).
- 71. Azim T, Bontell I, Strathdee SA. Women, drugs and HIV. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26(Suppl 1):S16–21.
- 72. Rights at the intersection of gender and disability during COVID-19 (statement). Washington, DC: Women Enabled International; 2020 (https://womenenabled.org/blog/statement-on-covid-19-for-endorsement/).
- 73. Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Vienna: European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights; 2014.
- 74. Grierson J. Coronavirus lockdown raises risk of online child abuse, charity says. Guardian, 1 April 2020 (https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/02/coronavirus-lockdown-raises-risk-of-online-child-abuse-charity-says).
- 75. Pandemic profiteering: how criminals exploit the Covid-19 crisis. The Hague: Europol; 2020 (https://www.europol.europa.eu/print/publications-documents/pandemic-profiteering-how-criminals-exploit-covid-19-crisis).
- Oloo DE. Break the silence: stop gender based violence!! Mombasa: FIDA-Kenya (https://www.fidakenya.org/site/singleblog?id=10).
- 77. Arab states region COVID-19: situation report no. 1. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ASRO_COVID-19_UNFPA_Sitrep_No.1.pdf).
- 78. The Government fully mobilized against domestic and intra-family violence. Paris: Ministère de l'Intérieur; 2020 (https://www.interieur.gouv.fr/Actualites/L-actu-du-Ministere/Le-Gouvernement-pleinement-mobilise-contre-les-violences-conjugales-et-intrafamiliales).
- 79. Kottasová I, Di Donato V. Women are using code words at pharmacies to escape domestic violence during lockdown. CNN, 2 April 2020 (https://www.cnn.com/2020/04/02/europe/domestic-violence-coronavirus-lockdown-intl/index.html).
- 80. Respect women: preventing violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312261/WHO-RHR-18.19-eng.pdf?ua=1).

- 81. UNAIDS condemns misuse and abuse of emergency powers to target marginalized and vulnerable populations. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200409_laws-covid19).
- 82. COVID-19: a human rights checklist. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/14/covid-19-human-rights-checklist).
- 83. COVID-19 security measures no excuse for excessive use of force, say UN Special Rapporteurs. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25802&LangID=E).
- 84. Davis SLM. The uncounted: politics of data in global health. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2020.
- 85. Sex workers must not be left behind in the response to COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200408_sex-workers-covid-19).
- 86. Maundu P. Covid-19: 24 sex workers arrested, to be quarantined. Daily Nation, 21 April 2020 (https://www.nation.co.ke/counties/makueni/Covid-19--24-sex-workers-to-be-quarantined/1183294-5530086-9sjiquz/index.html).
- 87. Mutandiro K. Covid-19: sex workers accuse police of beating people on the street. Ground Up, 2 April 2020 (https://www.groundup.org.za/article/much-l-am-afraid-covid-19-l-need-money-says-sex-worker/).
- 88. Uganda's COVID-19 response is terrorizing women with arbitrary detention, blackmail, and violence. New York: Health Gap; 2020 (https://healthgap.org/press/ugandas-covid19-response-is-terrorizing-women-with-arbitrary-detention-blackmail-and-violence/).
- 89. Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/human-rights-and-covid-19_en.pdf).
- 90. Panama: set transgender-sensitive quarantine guidelines—gender-based quarantine leading to arbitrary arrests, fines. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/23/panama-set-transgender-sensitive-quarantine-quidelines#).
- 91. Sussman AL. "Don't have to fight for pennies": New Zealand safety net helps sex workers in lockdown. Guardian, 27 April 2020 (https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/28/dont-have-to-fight-for-pennies-new-zealand-safety-net-helps-sex-workers-in-lockdown).
- 92. Covid-19 school closures around the world will hit girls hardest. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and Plan International; 2020 (https://en.unesco.org/news/covid-19-school-closures-around-world-will-hit-girls-hardest).
- 93. Educating girls, ending child marriage. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2018 (https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/immersive-story/2017/08/22/educating-girls-ending-child-marriage).
- 94. Banda J, Atansah P. An agenda for harmful cultural practices and girls' empowerment. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development; 2016 (https://www.cgdev.org/publication/agenda-harmful-cultural-practices-and-girls-empowerment).
- 95. COVID-19 education response: health and nutrition during home learning—education sector issue note no. 1.1. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2020 (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373277/PDF/373277eng.pdf.multi).
- 96. Policy brief: the impact of COVID-19 on women. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/policy_brief_on_covid_impact_on_women_9_apr_2020_updated.pdf).
- 97. Digital empowerment of girls. London: Plan International; 2018 (https://plan-international.org/publications/digital-empowerment-of-girls.)
- 98. Good policy and practice in health education, puberty education and menstrual hygiene management: booklet 9. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and Plan International; 2014.
- 99. Young lives on lockdown: the impact of Ebola on children and communities in Liberia. Woking, UK: Plan International; 2015.
- 100. Risso-Gill I, Finnegan L. Children's Ebola recovery assessment: Sierra Leone. London: Save the Children, World Vision International, Plan International and UNICEF; 2015.

- 101. Korkoyah DT Jr, Wreh FF. Ebola impact revealed: an assessment of the differing impacts of the outbreak on women and men in Liberia. New York: UN Women, OXFAM, Ministry of Gender and Development, Liberia Institute of Statistics and Geo-Information Services, and Liberia WASH Consortium; 2015.
- 102. COVID-19: GBV risks to adolescent girls and interventions to protect and Empower them. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund and International Rescue Committee; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/media/68706/file/COVID-19-GBV-risks-to-adolescent-girls-and-interventions-to-protect-them-2020.pdf).
- 103. Vreeman RC, McCoy BM, Leed S. Mental health challenges among adolescents living with HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(Suppl. 3):21 497.
- 104. The linkages between education and HIV/AIDS in girls' education. Washington, DC: Center for Strategic and International Studies; 2009 (https://www.csis.org/blogs/smart-global-health/linkages-between-education-and-hivaids-girls-education).
- 105. De Neve JW, Fink G, Subramanian SV, Moyo S, Bor J. Length of secondary schooling and risk of HIV infection in Botswana: evidence from a natural experiment. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(8):e470–77.
- 106. Behman JA. The effect of increased primary schooling on adult women's HIV status in Malawi and Uganda: universal primary education as a natural experiment. Soc Sci Med. 2015;127:108–15.
- 107. Pettifor AE, Levandowski BA, MacPhail C, et al. Keep them in school: the importance of education as a protective factor against HIV infection among young South African women. Int J Epidemiol. 2008;37(6):1266–73.
- 108. Durevall D, Lindskog A, George G. Education and HIV incidence among young women in KwaZulu-Natal: an association but no evidence of a causal protective effect. PLoS One. 2019;14(3):e0213056.
- 109. Transactional sex and HIV risk: from analysis to action. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS and STRIVE; 2018 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/transactional-sex-and-hiv-risk_en.pdf).
- 110. Research and work in progress. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; May 2020.
- 111. Internal communication. Geneva: Joint United Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020.
- 112. Munoz Boudet AM, Buitrago P, Leroy De La Briere B, et al. Gender differences in poverty and household composition through the life-cycle: a global perspective. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2018 (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/135731520343670750/pdf/WPS8360.pdf).
- 113. OECD employment database. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2020 (http://www.oecd.org/employment/emp/onlineoecdemploymentdatabase.htm; OECD).
- 114. World employment and social outlook: trends for women 2018—global snapshot. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2018 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_619577.pdf).
- 115. Women at the core of the fight against COVID-19 crisis. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2020 (https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=127_127000-awfnqj80me&title=Women-at-the-core-of-the-fight-against-COVID-19-crisis).
- 116. Sierminska E, Frick J, Grabka M. Examining the gender wealth gap. Oxf Econ Papers. 2010;62(4):669–90.
- 117. Schneebaum A, Rehm M, Mader K, Hollan K. The gender wealth gap across European countries. Rev Income Wealth. 2018;64(2):295–331.
- 118. Maintaining and prioritizing HIV prevention services in the time of COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Global HIV Prevention Coalition; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/maintaining-prioritizing-hiv-prevention-services-covid19_en.pdf).
- 119. Women at work: trends 2016. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2016 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_457317.pdf).
- 120. E/CN.6/2017/3. Women's economic empowerment in the changing world of work: report of the Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2016.
- 121. Care work and care jobs for the future of decent work. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2018 (https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_633135.pdf).
- 122. Redistribute unpaid work. New York: UN Women (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/csw61/redistribute-unpaid-work).

- 123. Esquivel V, Budlender D, Folbre N, Hirway I. Explorations: time-use surveys in the south. Feminist Economics. 2008:14(3):107–52.
- 124. The COVID-19 outbreak and gender: key advocacy points from Asia and the Pacific. New York: UN Women and Gender in Humanitarian Action Working Group; 2020 (https://www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20 eseasia/docs/publications/2020/03/ap-giha-wg-advocacy.pdf?la=en&vs=2145).
- 125. Harman S. Ebola, gender and conspicuously invisible women in global health governance. Third World Quarterly. 2015;37(3).
- 126. HeForShe launches #HeForSheAtHome campaign. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/news-heforshe-launches-heforsheathome-campaign).
- 127. Sex workers in Bangladesh: building resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/may/20200513_sex-workers-bangladesh).
- 128. Ensuring access to livelihoods for sex workers in Bangladesh. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/covid-blog#node-53955).
- 129. Boniol M, McIsaac M, Xu L, et al. Gender equity in the health workforce: analysis of 104 countries. Health Workforce working paper no. 1. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019.
- 130. Mitigating the impacts of COVID-19 on menstrual health and hygiene. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/media/68446/file/Mitigating-the-impacts-of-COVID19-on-menstrual-health-and-hygiene-Brief.pdf).
- 131. Mathad J, Reif LK, Seo G, et al. Female global health leadership: data-driven approaches to close the gender gap. Lancet. 2019;393:10 171.
- 132. United Nations Working Group on Discrimination against Women and Girls: responses to the Covid-19 could exacerbate pre-existing and deeply entrenched discrimination against women and girls, say UN experts. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25809&LangID=E).
- 133. Yaker R. Securing the safety and wellbeing of women frontline healthcare workers in the COVID-19 response. GBV Guidelines; 2020 (https://gbvguidelines.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/202003-securing-safety-and-wellbeing-of-women-frontline-healthcare-workers-covid-19_final_version.pdf).
- 134. Wittenberg-Cox A. What do countries with the best coronavirus responses have in common? Women leaders. Forbes, 13 April 2020 (https://www.forbes.com/sites/avivahwittenbergcox/2020/04/13/what-do-countries-with-the-best-coronavirus-reponses-have-in-common-women-leaders/#6058aceb3dec.
- 135. Transforming the national AIDS response: advancing women's leadership and participation. New York: UN Women and ATHENA Network; 2011 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2010/1/transforming-national-aids-response-advancing-womens-leadership-participation-en.pdf?la=en&vs=3031).
- 136. Karin QA, Havlir D, Phanuphak N. Putting women in the centre of the global HIV response is key to achieving epidemic control. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23:3.
- 137. Paying attention to women's needs and leadership will strengthen COVID-19 response. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/news-womens-needs-and-leadership-in-covid-19-response).
- 138. Positive living in the time of COVID-19. International Community of Women Living with HIV and AIDS; 2020.
- 139. Women rise for all. New York: United Nations (https://www.un.org/en/coronavirus/women-rise-for-all).
- 140. Women leaders rise in solidarity to save lives and protect livelihoods. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/riseforall_press_release.pdf).
- 141. A UN framework for the immediate socio-economic response to COVID-19. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_framework_report_on_covid-19.pdf).
- 142. The Secretary-General's UN COVID-19 response and recovery fund. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/sq_response_and_recovery_fund_fact_sheet.pdf).
- 143. COVID-19: new women-led UN initiative aims to save lives and protect livelihoods. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/04/1062692?utm_source=UN+News+-+Newsletter&utm_campaign=5dbc19530d-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2020_04_28_12_25&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_fdbf1af606-5dbc19530d-106886153).

RESOURCES

ADDRESS THE DIFFERENT NEEDS OF WOMEN AND GIRLS. PAYING ATTENTION TO THE MOST MARGINALIZED

Guidance note on CEDAW and COVID-19. New York: Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CEDAW/Pages/CEDAWIndex.aspx).

Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/human-rights-and-covid-19_en.pdf).

Sex workers must not be left behind in the response to COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200408_sex-workers-covid-19).

UNAIDS condemns misuse and abuse of emergency powers to target marginalized and vulnerable populations. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200409_laws-covid19).

What people living with HIV need to know about HIV and COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/HIV_COVID-19_brochure_en.pdf).

Menham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. Lancet. 2020 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2).

COVID-19 and the human rights of LGBTI people: what is the impact of COVID-19 on LGBTI people? Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/LGBT/LGBT/people.pdf).

Statement by human rights experts on the International Day against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia: COVID-19—the suffering and resilience of LGBT persons must be visible and inform the actions of states. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25884&LangID=E).

Statement by the UN Working Group on Discrimination against Women and Girls, statement: responses to the COVID-19 pandemic must not discount women and girls. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25808&LangID=E).

Vulnerability amplified: the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on LGBTIQ people. New York: OutRight Action International; 2020 (https://outrightinternational.org/sites/default/files/COVIDsReportDesign_FINAL_LR_0.pdf).

Joint statement on COVID-10 in prisons and other closed settings. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, World Health Organization, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, and Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/Advocacy-Section/20200513_PS_covid-prisons_en.pdf).

Addressing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women migrant workers. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/guidance-note-impacts-of-the-covid-19-pandemic-on-women-migrant-workers-en.pdf?la=en&vs=227).

COVID-19: emerging gender data and why it matters. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://data.unwomen.org/resources/covid-19-emerging-gender-data-and-why-it-matters).

COVID-19: how to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.communityengagementhub.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/03/COVID-19_CommunityEngagement_1303201.pdf).

UN Women, ILO, European Union, gender equality experts recommend key actions for COVID-19 response and recovery for G7 leaders. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/5/press-release-key-actions-for-covid-19-response-and-recovery-for-g7-leaders).

Addressing human rights as key to the COVID-19 response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/addressing-human-rights-as-key-to-the-covid-19-response).

Country and technical guidance: coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance).

Gender and COVID-19: advocacy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/332080/WHO-2019-nCoV-Advocacy_brief-Gender-2020.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y).

Preparedness, prevention and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other places of detention: interim guidance. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf?ua=1).

RECOGNIZE AND GUARANTEE ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL HEALTH SERVICES

Why abortion and contraception are essential healthcare. London: Amnesty International; 2020 (https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/04/abortion-contraception-essential/).

Comprehensive reproductive health care, including abortion care, is essential and time-sensitive health care. New York: Center for Reproductive Rights and Columbia Mailman School of Public Health; 2020 (https://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/USP-COVID-FS-Interactive-Update.pdf).

Family planning advocacy in the context of COVID-19: examining the role of faith and religious leader in Uganda. Kampala: Faith for Family Health Initiative; 2020 (https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/91095561-ea83-41c3-be2a-e51d6f2f5ac2/downloads/3FHi%20Learning%20Note%20Family%20Planning%20Advocacy%20in. pdf?ver=1586527901579).

Crisis on the horizon: devastating losses for global reproductive health are possible due to COVID-19. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2020 (https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2020/04/crisis-horizon-devastating-losses-global-reproductive-health-are-possible-due-covid).

The COVID-19 outbreak: potential fallout for sexual and reproductive health and rights. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2020 (https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2020/03/covid-19-outbreak-potential-fallout-sexual-and-reproductive-health-and-rights).

The coronavirus crisis must be a wake-up call to demand reproductive self-determination for all. Oakland, CA: If/When/How; 2020 (https://www.ifwhenhow.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/20_04_02_Policy_Platform_COVID19_FINAL.pdf).

Maintaining and prioritizing HIV prevention services in the time of COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Global HIV Prevention Coalition; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/maintaining-prioritizing-hiv-prevention-services-covid19_en.pdf).

 $COVID-19\ technical\ brief for\ maternity\ services.\ New\ York:\ United\ Nations\ Population\ Fund;\ 2020\ (https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19_MNH_guidance_04.pdf).$

Respectful maternity care, the universal rights of women and newborns. Washington, DC: White Ribbon Alliance; 2020 (https://www.whiteribbonalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/WRA_RMC_Brochure_Desktop_8.5x11.pdf).

Consolidated guideline on self-care interventions for health sexual and reproductive health and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/325719/WHO-RHR-19.14-eng.pdf).

COVID-19: operational guidance for maintaining essential health services during an outbreak—interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/covid-19-operational-guidance-for-maintaining-essential-health-services-during-an-outbreak).

Q&A on COVID-19, pregnancy, childbirth and breastfeeding. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-on-covid-19-pregnancy-childbirth-and-breastfeeding).

ADDRESS THE NEGLECTED EPIDEMIC OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS

COVID-19 and women's human rights: guidance—what is the impact of COVID-19 on gender-based violence? New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Women/COVID-19_and_Womens_Human_Rights.pdf).

E/ESCWA/2020/Policy Brief. The impact of COVID-19 on gender equality in the Arab region. Beirut: United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia; 2020 (https://www.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/20-00131_gpid_pb_eng_apr5.pdf).

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) response: UNODC thematic brief on gender-based violence against women and girls. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/Advocacy-Section/GBVAW_and_UNODC_in_COVID19_final_7Apr2020.pdf).

UNFPA interim technical brief: gender equality and addressing gender-based violence (GBV) and coronavirus disease (COVID-19) prevention, protection and response. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/resources/gender-equality-and-addressing-gender-based-violence-gbv-and-coronavirus-disease-covid-19).

In focus: ending violence against women in the context of COVID-19. New York: United Nations Trust Fund to End Violence against Women; 2020 (https://untf.unwomen.org/en/news-and-events/in-focus-covid-19#U6).

COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/issue-brief-covid-19-and-ending-violence-against-women-and-girls-en.pdf?la=en&vs=5006).

Violence against women and girls: the shadow pandemic (statement of Executive Director, Phumzile Mlambo-Ngcuka). New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/4/statement-ed-phumzile-violence-against-women-during-pandemic).

Van Gelder N, Peterman A, Potts A, O'Donnell M, Thompson K, Shah N, et al. COVID-19: reducing the risk of infection might increase the risk of intimate partner violence. Lancet. 2020 (https://www.thelancet.com/journals/eclinm/article/PIIS2589-5370(20)30092-4/fulltext).

COVID-19 and violence against women: what the health sector/system can do. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331699/WHO-SRH-20.04-eng.pdf?ua=1).

Respect women: preventing violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312261/WHO-RHR-18.19-eng.pdf?ua=1).

STOP MISUSE OF CRIMINAL AND PUNITIVE LAWS

Body politics: criminalization of sexuality and reproduction—a primer. London: Amnesty International; 2018 (https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/POL4077632018ENGLISH.PDF).

Risks, rights and health. New York: Global Commission on HIV and the Law; 2012 (https://hivlawcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/FinalReport-RisksRightsHealth-EN.pdf).

Risks, rights and health: 2018 supplement. New York: Global Commission on HIV and the Law (https://hivlawcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Hiv-and-the-Law-supplement_EN.pdf).

Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/human-rights-and-covid-19_en.pdf).

Coronavirus: human rights need to be front and centre in response, says Bachelet. New York: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25668&LangID=E).

Sun N, Zilli L. COVID-19 symposium: the use of criminal sanctions in COVID-19 responses—exposure and transmission—Part I. OpinioJuris, 3 April 2020 (https://opiniojuris.org/2020/04/03/covid-19-symposium-the-use-of-criminal-sanctions-in-covid-19-responses-exposure-and-transmission-part-i/).

Sun N, Zilli L. COVID-19 symposium: the use of criminal sanctions in COVID-19 responses—exposure and transmission—Part II. OpinioJuris, 3 April 2020 (http://opiniojuris.org/2020/04/03/covid-19-symposium-the-use-of-criminal-sanctions-in-covid-19-responses-enforcement-of-public-health-measures-part-ii/).

Social stigma associated with COVID-19: a guide to preventing and addressing social stigma. Geneva: World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, and International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies; 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/covid19-stigma-quide.pdf).

PRIORITIZE ADOLESCENT GIRLS' AND YOUNG WOMEN'S EDUCATION. HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

Sign on to this open letter calling on governments to apply a gender lens to COVID-19 preparedness, response, and recovery. Deliver for Good; 2020 (https://deliverforgood.org/sign-on-to-this-open-letter-calling-on-governments-to-apply-a-gender-lens-to-covid-19-preparedness-response-and-recovery/).

Menham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. Lancet. 2020 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2).2

Women at the core of the fight against COVID-19 crisis. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2020 (https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=127_127000-awfnqj80me&title=Women-at-the-core-of-the-fight-against-COVID-19-crisis).

Smith J. Overcoming the "tyranny of the urgent": integrating gender into disease outbreak preparedness and response. Gender Dev. 2019;27:355–69.

Put women and girls at centre of COVID-19 recovery: UN Secretary-General. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/04/1061452).

VALUE WOMEN'S WORK AND MAKE UNPAID CARE WORK EVERYBODY'S WORK

Boniol M, McIsaac M, Xu L, et al. Gender equity in the health workforce: analysis of 104 countries. Health Workforce working paper no. 1. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/hrh/resources/gender_equity-health_workforce_analysis/en/).

Women at the core of the fight against COVID-19 crisis. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2020 (https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=127_127000-awfnqj80me&title=Women-at-the-core-of-the-fight-against-COVID-19-crisis).

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak: rights, roles and responsibilities of health workers, including key considerations for occupational safety and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-outbreak-rights-roles-and-responsibilities-of-health-workers-including-key-considerations-for-occupational-safety-and-health).

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

Human rights checklist for COVID-19 responses. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/print/340770).

Pandemia y derechos humanos en las Américas. Resolutión 1/2020. Washington, DC: Inter-American Commission on Human Rights; 2020 (http://www.oas.org/es/cidh/decisiones/pdf/Resolucion-1-20-es.pdf).

Lessons from HIV prevention for preventing SARS-CoV-2 in low- and middle-income countries. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Global HIV Prevention Coalition; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/lessons-hiv-prevention-covid19).

Smith J. Overcoming the "tyranny of the urgent": integrating gender into disease outbreak preparedness and response. Gender Dev. 2019;27:355–69.

COVID-19 and the need for action on mental health. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_policy_brief-covid_and_mental_health_final.pdf).

Final report. New York: United Nations Global Health Crises Task Force; 2017 (https://www.un.org/en/pdfs/Final%20Report.Global%20Health%20Crises%20Task%20Force.pdf).

Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/mental-health-considerations.pdf).

Copyright © 2020 Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. UNAIDS does not warrant that the information published in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

UNAIDS/JC2995E





UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

+41 22 791 3666

unaids.org